
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday, 17 September 2019. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Wednesday, 25 September 2019 at 2.00 pm
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman)
Councillor Chris Benn (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor Mark Whittington, 
Councillor Paul Wood and Councillor Sue Woolley

Agenda
1.  Membership

The Committee to be notified of any substitute members.

2.  Apologies

3.  Disclosure of interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

4.  Minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2019 (Pages 3 - 8)

5.  Updates from previous meeting

Governance 
and Audit 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


6.  External Audit- Value for Money opinion
Report of the District Auditor.

(Pages 9 - 16)

7.  Internal Audit progress report
Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance.

(Pages 17 - 57)

8.  Safeguarding Annual Report
Report of the Cabinet Member for Communities, Health and Wellbeing.

(Pages 59 - 72)

9.  Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent.



Minutes
Governance and Audit Committee
Friday, 26 July 2019

Committee Members present
Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman)
Councillor Chris Benn (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Ashley Baxter

Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Mark Whittington
Councillor Sue Woolley

Cabinet Members
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

Other Members
Councillor Bob Adams 

Officers
Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Head of Finance (Alison Hall-Wright)
Senior Accountant (Gill Goddard) 
Member Services Officer (Anita Eckersley)

External Audit
John Gregory (Grant Thornton)
Paul Harvey (Grant Thornton)

10. Apologies
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Paul Wood.

11. Disclosure of interests
No interests were disclosed.

12. Minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2019
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2019 were proposed, seconded and 
agreed as a correct record.

Councillor Sue Woolley abstained from voting as she had not been present at the 
meeting.

13. Updates from previous meeting
The Committee was given an update on the crowd funding reserve initiative for 
£100k that was approved by the Committee at the last meeting.  Members were 
informed that the initiative would be launched during August. Further information 
would be submitted to the September meeting of the Committee.

14. External Audit - Annual Governance Report
The Key Audit Partner from Grant Thornton, the Council’s external auditors, 
referred to the Audit Findings document noting that they had not identified any 
matters that required modification. An unmodified audit report was anticipated. 

3

Agenda Item 4



Reference was made to the potential impact of the McCloud judgement and how 
this had delayed the finalising and issuing of the accounts and reports to 
members.  The Committee was reminded of the background to the case and the 
Court of Appeal’s ruling that age discrimination in relation to the pension 
schemes had been identified. The legal ruling would impact on Council pension 
funds and pension schemes where transitional arrangements for changing 
benefits were being implemented.

As a result of the ruling and the GAD review which had been commissioned by 
the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board, work had been undertaken with the Council 
to ascertain potential implications. This had resulted in a further actuarial 
assessment being commissioned. The assessment had identified a non-material 
increase in the pension liability for the Council. The financial statements had not 
been amended at this time.

It was noted that the McCloud case would impact on all local authorities.  The 
Committee was informed that a pension liability of £1.4m and above was classed 
as ‘material’. The Council’s pension liability was £1.2m so was therefore classed 
as non-material. The implications would not be immediate but future provision 
would be required and factored into future budgets.

Reference was then made to the minor cash flow changes mentioned under audit 
adjustments but these were not seen as significant. Further reference was made 
to the McCloud judgement and Government Minimum Pension (GMP) and how 
the external auditors had satisfied themselves that there appeared to be no 
material misstatement. The Auditors acknowledged the uncertainties relating to 
the estimation of the impact on the Council’s liability at this time.

Members were informed that the Value for Money conclusion would be submitted 
to the September meeting of the Committee. The reason for the delay in issuing 
the conclusion was to enable further consideration of the Council’s governance 
assessment following the recent announcement of the departure of the Chief 
Executive and the departure of the section 151 officer. It was emphasised that 
this was standard practice when senior management left and did not indicate a 
problem. The work would be undertaken as quickly as possible so that the value 
for money conclusion and completion certification of the audit could be issued. 
  
In response to a Member’s query on whether the mention of Warwickshire 
Pension Fund was correct, the Committee was informed that this would be 
corrected. Members were also informed that the real cost implications of the 
increase in pension liability would be subject to the outcomes from the Tribunal 
Review and would not be reflected immediately but in future years.   

A Member wished to have her concerns noted that in light of the error regarding 
the Pension provider in the papers there could potentially be other errors that had 
not been identified.  Confirmation was sought on whether the figures were correct 
and related to this Council.  The Auditors reassured the Committee that prior to 

4



the statutory deadline of Wednesday 31 July, 2019, any typing errors would be 
corrected and an opinion would be given on the accounts.

In response to a Member’s query regarding questions he had submitted to the 
auditors, the Committee was informed that no issues had been identified that 
required highlighting with the Committee. The auditor suggested that a 
discussion with the Member who raised the questions be undertaken outside the 
meeting.

Reference was made to the final fee not being noted at Appendix D and it was 
confirmed this would be included in the final papers.                                  
      
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED:

That the Governance and Audit Committee approved the External Auditors, 
Grant Thornton, Audit Findings.

15. Statement of Accounts including Annual Governance Statement
The Chairman reminded Members that the accounts had been available in draft 
form on the Council’s website at the end of May. A link had been emailed to 
Committee Members along with a copy of the draft accounts with the proviso that 
the Committee would receive details of any changes at the meeting. Members 
would need to raise any issues they had identified in the draft accounts.  A copy 
of the final accounts had now been provided and a short adjournment could be 
facilitated if Members felt they wanted to look through the final accounts in more 
detail.

A Member wished to have noted that she would have preferred to have had an 
adjournment but was happy to follow the lead of other Members of the 
Committee. 

The Director of Finance noted that the draft Statement of Accounts 2018/19 had 
been published on the website on 31 May 2019. The Statement of Accounts had 
been updated to reflect the changes identified by the Finance Team and external 
audit following the completion of the audit. The final Statement of Accounts had 
to be published by 31 July 2019.  A summary of accounts had also been 
presented for Committee approval.

Further reference was made to the requirement for the accounts to reflect the 
impact of the McCloud judgement on the pension liability.  The ruling had been 
made regarding age discrimination arising from the public sector pension scheme 
transition arrangements relating to judges and firefighters. It was anticipated that 
there would be implications for the Local Government Pension Scheme. At the 
time of producing the Statement of Accounts there was uncertainty regarding the 
amounts and timescales involved in the appeals process. The accounts did not at 
this time reflect potential implications from the McCloud judgement.

In response to a Member’s query about why the Statement of Accounts did not 
include the accounts from the Council’s Companies, the Committee was informed 

5



that the companies’ accounts would not be consolidated into the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts. The companies would publish their own accounts.  
Members were directed to Note 30 of the Statement of Accounts which detailed 
the Council’s interests in other companies. Further discussion ensued on the 
nuances of particular posts and whether they were on the Council’s payroll or the 
respective company payroll.  It was noted that the posts included on the Council’s 
payroll were recharged to the companies and that funding to the companies was 
for core service provision.

It was also noted that the Companies Committee would scrutinise the Council’s 
companies’ governance.  This committee was in the process of being created.

A Member wished to have recorded his concerns that there did not appear to be 
a mechanism in place to hold the Companies to account since the Shareholder 
Committee had been disbanded and no timeline could be provided in respect of 
when the Companies Committee would be in place.

The Cabinet Member for Finance confirmed that the accounts for the companies 
would be published by the end of December in line with statutory requirements. 

The external auditor commented that the accounting arrangements for the 
companies would need to be reviewed, currently, the companies were not of a 
size that warranted scrutiny by the auditors.

Further discussion took place on the need to review the Terms of Reference for 
the companies, who would carry the burden should the companies fold or would 
the Council have to underwrite any losses. Members felt the Council would have 
a legal and moral obligation to underwrite losses.  Reference was made to how 
governance issues were dealt in respect of companies owned by other local 
authorities.

In response to a query about whether Members had access to the Service Level 
Agreements for the companies, it was noted that the former Growth Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and the Shareholder Committee had reviewed these.

The Head of Finance then outlined the minor changes between the draft 
accounts and the updated Statement of Accounts.  These changes ranged from 
adjustments in terminology to small realignments.  The Committee was assured 
that the final Statement of Accounts would replace the draft accounts on the 
system once signed.  The Committee was reminded that the external auditors 
must complete their audit and issue the relevant audit opinion to ensure the 
statutory deadline was met.  

The Chairman thanked the auditors and officers for their work and noted that the 
accounts would be submitted earlier next year.

6



It was proposed, seconded and AGREED: 

 The Audit and Governance Committee approved the 2018/19 Statement of 
Accounts

 The Audit and Governance Committee noted the outcome of the audit work

 The Audit and Governance Committee approved the publication of the 
summary of accounts on the Council’s website

 The Audit and Governance Committee approved the signing of the letter of 
representation by management

The meeting adjourned between 15:05 and 15:12 for the Accounts to be signed.

16. Treasury Management Annual Report 2018/19
The Director of Finance reminded the Committee that the Council was required 
under the Local Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury 
management review of activities and performance against prudential and 
treasury indicators for 2018/19. The report in the papers met the requirements of 
both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential 
Code).

The Committee was also reminded that the Strategy for 2018/19 was approved 
by Council on 1 March 2018. Reference was made to a key element of daily 
operations and how focus was on comparing current market conditions in 
conjunction with the Link credit rating list and the option to deviate from this 
guidance should there be clear alternative options available to the Council.  Such 
decisions had to be clearly documented for audit purposes.  The aim of the 
strategy was to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties that enabled 
diversification of investments and avoided risk but provided security.

Delegated powers from Council had been given to the Governance and Audit 
Committee to deal with matters relating to the Council’s Treasury Management 
activities.  In particular, the Committee had the responsibility to monitor, review 
and amend as appropriate the Council approved Treasury Management Strategy 
during the course of the financial year. The regulatory environment placed a 
much greater onus on members to review and scrutinise the treasury 
management policy and activities. Any potential amendments or minor changes 
would be submitted to the September Committee meeting.  

Members were informed that strong growth in Quarter 2 and Quarter 3 had 
impacted by weak growth in Quarters 1 and 4.  With the uncertainties over Brexit 
this was expected.  The base rate had also increased by a quarter of a percent 
from 0.5% to 0.75% and this had provided new opportunities and increased 
income from investments for the Council.  

7



The average annual interest rate of the Council’s portfolio had slightly increased 
from .07% to 0.97%.  The budgeted assumption for average investment balances 
had been £56.684m but was in fact £65.774. The graphs contained in the report 
highlighted the variances in the short-term investment market.

In respect of Long Term Borrowing no additional long term borrowing had been 
required during 2018/19. The long-term debt outstanding as at 31 March 2019 
was £70.879m and related to the HRA self-financing loans.

Short-Term/Temporary Borrowing outstanding as at 31 March 2019 was 
£28.221m.

Internal borrowing had been utilised to purchase the Cummins site in Stamford 
during 2018/19 and it was noted that borrowing would be required to fund any 
future purchases.  Debt rescheduling had been unviable during the year due to 
the average 1% differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature 
repayment rates.

Discussion took place on benching marking, rankings and the interaction with 
other local authorities and the importance of identifying any issues that may arise 
and how they could be addressed. It was noted that the Treasury Management 
strategy had been adopted by Council, but it was in the gift of the Governance 
and Audit Committee to consider and implement any variations should they be 
required. Clarification was also provided on the difference between cash flow and 
reserves and how the accounts were monitored on a daily basis.

Members discussed whether all the investments were shown on the graph, how 
risks were monitored, whether the council held an ethical policy or strategy for 
investments, whether it was common practice to invest in other local authorities, 
whether Councils were included in the ratings referred to and who made the 
decisions to invest.  It was noted that the investments were monitored on a daily 
basis by a designated officer, there was no explicit ethical policy in respect of 
choosing who to invest with.  Investing with other Local authorities was common 
practice and local authorities were not included in the ratings.  It was also noted 
that all investments carried a risk.

The Chairman suggested that the advisors provide a training session on the 
ratings and investment process for the Committee.

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED:  

a) That the Governance and Audit Committee noted and approved the contents 
of the annual report on the Treasury Management Activity for 2018/19, and

b) That arrangements are made for the Committee to receive training from the 
advisors in respect of the ratings and investment processes.

17. Close of meeting
The meeting was closed at 15:40.

8



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District Council  |  2018/19 

The Value-for-Money Audit Findings
for South Kesteven District Council

25 September 2019

Year ended 31 March 20199

A
genda Item

 6



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District Council  |  2018/19 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Summary 3

2. Value-for-money 4

Appendices

A. Fees

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 
control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements 
in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our 
prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report 
was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is 
available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

John Gregory

Key Audit Partner

T:  0121 232 5333

E: john.gregory@uk.gt.com

Paul Harvey

Engagement Manager

T: 0116 257 5589

E: paul.m.Harvey@uk.gt.com

Vikash Patel

Assistant Manager

T: 0116 257 5987

E: vikash.patel@uk.gt.com

10



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District Council  |  2018/19 3

Summary
This table provides a summarised update of the position which we reported to members of the Governance and Audit Committee on 26 July 2019. At that meeting, we explained that
we had decided to delay issuing our value-for-money conclusion. We have now completed the necessary additional work in order to provide our conclusion, and this update report
therefore sets out the findings from our value for money work.

Financial
Statements

Under International Standards of Audit (UK) (ISAs) and the National 
Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we are 
required to report whether, in our opinion, the Council's financial 
statements:
• give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council 

and its income and expenditure for the year; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting 
and prepared in accordance with the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

We reported the findings of our audit to members on 26 July 2019 and duly issued our 
unmodified audit opinion on the Council’s accounts on 30 July 2019, enabling the 
Council to meet the deadline for publication of the audited accounts by 31 July.

Value for Money 
arrangements

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the
Code'), we are required to report if, in our opinion, the Council has
made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for money (VFM)
conclusion’).

We reported on 26 July that we had decided to delay issuing our value-for-money 
conclusion to enable us to consider whether there are any implications for our 
assessment of the Council’s governance following the then very recent announcement of 
the departure of the Chief Executive, which also followed the recent departure of the 
section 151 officer.  

We have now completed this assessment and this work, together with the work 
previously carried out in relation to your financial sustainability, means we are now able 
to issue an unqualified value-for-money conclusion.

Statutory duties The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Act’) also
requires us to:
• report to you if we have applied any of the additional powers

and duties ascribed to us under the Act; and
• To certify the closure of the audit.

We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties.

Once we have provided our value-for-money conclusion, we will be able to formally 
conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Independence and 
ethics

We are required to report to you our consideration of any threats to 
our independence as external auditors.

Our considerations remain as reported to you on 26 July 2019.

11



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District  Council  |  2018/19 4

Value for Money

Risk assessment 
We carried out an initial risk assessment in January 2019 and identified one 
significant risk in respect of specific areas of proper arrangements using the guidance 
contained in AGN03. We communicated this risk to you in our Audit Plan dated 
January 2019.  The risk related to the Council’s medium term financial sustainability. 

We in effect identified an additional risk to our value for money conclusion at a late 
stage of the audit which meant that we decided to delay issuing our value for money 
conclusion rather than issuing it alongside our opinion on the annual accounts. The 
risk arose from the then very recent announcement of the departure of the Chief 
Executive, which also followed the recent departure of the section 151 officer.  

Experience elsewhere shows that high levels of turnover among senior officers, and 
particularly the three ‘statutory’ officers – Head of Paid Service (CEO), s151 officer 
and Monitoring Officer – can be indicative of fundamental issues with a council’s 
governance and decision-making. We therefore wished to consider whether there was 
any evidence of such governance issues. The results of our work are summarised  in 
the table overleaf. 

Overall conclusion
Based on the work we performed to address the significant risk, we are satisfied that 
the Council had proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Value for Money
Background to our VFM approach
We are required to satisfy ourselves that the Council has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as 
the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion. 

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that proper arrangements 
are in place at the Council. In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's 
Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in November 2017. AGN 03 identifies one single 
criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Informed 
decision 
making

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working 
with partners 
& other third 

parties

12



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District Council |  2018/19 5

Key findings
We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of documents. 

Value for Money

Significant risk Findings Conclusion

 Financial Sustainability

Our Audit Plan identified the risk as follows:

For 2019/20 the Council is proposing a balanced budget with
no use of General Fund reserves.

The medium term financial strategy (MTFS) to 2021/22 shows
funding gaps of £915k in 2020/21 and £1,178k in 2021/22. The
Council has developed commercial and transformation
programmes as set out in the Corporate Strategy and is
implementing these initiatives in order to reduce operating
costs and increase income streams over the medium term.
While this position is far less severe than that faced by many
authorities, it will still require careful planning and management.

We  have undertaken the following procedures to address this VfM risk:
• review the Council’s arrangements for identifying and agreeing 

savings plans to ensure that the Council is resilient to the increasing 
financial challenges of coming years.

• review the outturn for 2018/19 and the updated MTFS and gain a 
better understanding of the financial settlement impact, how the 
council plans to respond to it and also how the Council plans to 
remain financially sustainable in the medium to long term.

Our Findings:
• The authority reported an overspend of £0.686m on its net 

expenditure revised general fund budget for 2018/19. The General 
Fund reserve stands at £2.835m as at 31 March 2019. This is still 
above the minimum General Fund reserve balance set by the 
authority of £1m (6.2% of net expenditure).

• The authority has set a General Fund balanced budget of £14.632m 
for 2019/20. The Council will have General Fund reserves of 
£0.615m as at 31/03/2020 (forecast), which is above the minimum 
General Fund reserve balance set by the authority of 5% of net 
expenditure. The Authority has also set a balanced HRA budget.

• The authority has refreshed its Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2019/20 to 2021/22 and revisited its assumptions in February 2019. 
Based on these assumptions the authority has a balanced budget 
for 2019/20, which builds upon various savings schemes introduced 
during 2018/19. The authority has assumed a “stand still” funding 
position and on this basis has estimated it would have a budget 
shortfall of £962k in 2020/21, and a further £1,122k in 2021/22. The 
authority has in place a transformation plan and will start to see the 
benefits of this work in 2019/20.

• Since we carried out our work, the further deferral of the ‘fair 
funding’ review means that the above deficit positions will not now 
be reached until a year later ie the first significant deficit is expected 
in 2021/22.

Auditor view
Like most of local government, the authority 
faces a challenging future driven by funding 
reductions and an increase in demand for 
services. This is further complicated by the 
uncertainty relating to the future of financing 
of local government, particularly business rate 
reform, fair funding review and the strategy 
for funding social care.

The authority needs make tough decisions 
ahead to deliver balanced budgets over the
coming years, but also maintain strict 
budgetary control to minimise overspends 
and continue to monitor delivery of savings 
targets tightly.

13



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District Council |  2018/19 6

Key findings (continued)

Value for Money

Significant risk Findings Conclusion

 Turnover of statutory officers

Experience elsewhere shows that high levels of turnover
among senior officers, and particularly the three ‘statutory’
officers – Head of Paid Service (CEO), s151 officer and
Monitoring Officer – can be indicative of fundamental issues
with a council’s governance and decision-making. We therefore
wished to consider whether there was any evidence of such
governance issues.

Following the last meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee 
where we drew this concern to Members’ attention, we  have 
undertaken additional work to address this risk, primarily through 
discussions with senior officers.
We are now satisfied that there is no significant risk to our value-for-
money conclusion arising from the departure of the statutory officers. 
We were also encouraged to note a number of positive developments in 
relation to the Council's governance, including improvements being 
made to the arrangements for the governance of Council companies, a 
wide-ranging review of the Council’s constitution which is now 
underway and a forthcoming external review of the council’s 
governance to be carried out by a former Chief Executive from a large 
council elsewhere.

Auditor view
It is important that both members, including 
the new leadership, and officers fully grasp 
the opportunity presented by these reviews to 
ensure that the Council is run in an effective 
way going forward and that the appropriate 
safeguards are built in to ensure. We will 
continue to monitor progress during 2019/20.

14



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District Council  |  2018/19 7

Fees

Audit Fees Proposed fee Final fee

Council Audit £36,400 £43,100

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £36,400 £43,100

Fee Variations:

Assessing the impact of the McCloud ruling - The Government’s transitional 
arrangements for pensions were ruled discriminatory by the Court of Appeal last 
December. The Supreme Court refused the Government’s application for permission to 
appeal this ruling. As part of our audit we considered the impact on the financial 
statements along with any audit reporting requirements. 

£1,500

Pensions – IAS 19 - The Financial Reporting Council has highlighted that the quality of 
work by audit firms in respect of IAS 19 needs to improve across local government 
audits. Accordingly, we have increased the level of scope and coverage in respect of IAS 
19 this year.

£1,000

PPE Valuation – work of experts - The Financial Reporting Council has highlighted that 
auditors need to improve the quality of work on PPE Valuations across the sector. We 
have increased the volume and scope of our audit work to reflect this.

£1,000

Value for money – additional work necessary to respond to the risk identified following 
the departures of the Chief Executive and the s151 officer.

£2,200

Non Audit Fees Fees for other services
Fees 
£

Audit related services:

Housing Benefit (Subsidy) Assurance Process

Certification of Housing capital receipts grant

£8,750

£3,000

Non-audit services:

CFO Insights £5,000

Appendix A

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

15



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for South Kesteven District Council  |  2018/19 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

16



Governance and Audit 
Committee
25 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

        

Internal Audit Update
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards the internal audit service provides 
assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the authority’s governance, risk management 
and control arrangements. The opinion provided within individual reports issued to management 
contributes towards an annual audit opinion that forms part of the framework of assurances that 
informs the Council’s Annual Governance Statement.

Report Author

Tracey Elliott, Governance & Risk Officer

 01476 406038

 t.elliott@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright 10 September 2019

Approved by: Richard Wyles 11 September 2019

Signed off by: Cllr Adam Stokes 16 September 2019

Recommendations to the decision maker

1. The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to review and note the contents of 
the attached Progress Report that has been prepared by the internal auditors RSM. 

17

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 Progress Report
1.1 The Internal Audit plan was approved by Governance and Audit Committee on 21 March 

2019.  The Progress Report, attached as Appendix A, details the finding of the first four 
audits of the plan.

The four reports being presented are:  Building Control, Allocations & Lettings, Housing 
Benefits and Customer Relationship Management.  All reports have resulted in a positive 
opinion.  

Audit Assurance L M H Total

Building Control Green 2 - - 2

Allocations & Lettings Amber Green 2 4 - 6

Housing Benefits Green 2 - - 2

Customer Relationship Management Amber Green 1 3 - 4

Total 7 7 - 14

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1 N/A

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 N/A

4 Preferred Option
4.1 N/A

5 Reasons for the Recommendations
5.1 To conform with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, and to provide assurance to 

the Governance and Audit Committee regarding the Council’s internal control 
environment, it is recommended that Committee review and note the contents of the 
attached Progress Report.

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 N/A

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no financial implications.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

require every local authority to maintain an adequate and effective internal audit service 
that would include a review of progress. Those charged with governance are asked to 

18



review the contents of the attached report which summarises the work undertaken by the 
internal auditors.

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 None

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 None

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 None

12 Background Papers
12.1 None

13 Appendices
13.1 Appendix A – Internal Audit Progress Report

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not required

Previously Considered by Not applicable

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  25 September 2019

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT 
COUNCIL 
Internal Audit Progress Report 

Governance and Audit Committee 

25 September 2019 
 

Page 1 of 37

21

Appendix 1



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 1 

CONTENTS 

 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2 Reports considered at this Governance and audit committee ..................................................................................... 3 

3 Looking ahead .............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

4 Other matters ............................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Appendix A: Internal audit assignments completed to date .............................................................................................. 8 

For further information contact .......................................................................................................................................... 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 37

22



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 2 

The Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20 was approved by the Governance and Audit Committee on 21 March 2019. Below 
provides a summary update on progress against that plan and summarises the results of our work to date. Please see 
chart below for current progress with the Plan.  

   

 

26% 5% 69%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

1

Assignments Complete Assignments in Draft Assignments in Progress Assignments Not Yet Due

1 INTRODUCTION 

Page 3 of 37

23



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 3 

This table of the audit assignments that have been completed and the impacts of those findings since the last 
Governance and Audit Committee held. The Executive Summary and Key Findings of the assignments below are 
attached to this progress report. 

Assignments Status Opinion issued Actions agreed  

   H M L 

 
 
Building Control (2.19/20) 
 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
4 

 
 
2 

 
 
Allocations and Lettings (3.19/20) 
 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
0 
 

 
 
2 

 
 
Housing Benefits (4.19/20) 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
0 

 
 
2 

 
 
Customer Relationship Management 
(5.19/20) 
 

 
 
Final 

 

 
 
0 

 
 
3 

 
 
1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 REPORTS CONSIDERED AT THIS GOVERNANCE 
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Page 4 of 37

24



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 4 

 

2.1 Impact of findings to date 

 

Building Control (2.19/20) 

Conclusion: Reasonable Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken, four ‘medium’ and two ‘low’ priority findings were identified. 
Management actions were agreed in respect of all the findings. 

The medium priority findings relate to: 

 The contract between South Kesteven District Council, Rushcliffe Borough Council and Newark 
and Sherwood District Council for the provision of Building Control services was put into place in 
2015 for the period 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2019. The deed of variation to this contract is yet 
to be signed by the contracting parties. 

 For the same sample of 20 applications it was identified that; in two cases a receipt could not be 
located on the file; in one case the validity code was not recorded on the Uniform system; and in 
eight cases the acknowledgement could not be located on the file. 

 For the same sample of 20 applications in five cases a decision notice was required to be issued. 
Testing identified that in two of these cases the decision notice was issued nine weeks and three 
weeks respectively after the target decision date. 

 For the same sample of 20, testing identified that one case the completion certificate was not 
maintained on file. 

 

Allocations and Lettings (3.19/20) 

Conclusion: Substantial Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing, two ‘low’ priority management actions were identified, and these were agreed 
by management.  

 

Housing Benefits (4.19/20) 

Conclusion: Substantial Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing, two ‘low’ priority management actions were identified, and these were agreed 
by management.  

 

Customer Relationship Management (5.19/20) 

Conclusion: Reasonable Assurance 

Impact on Annual Opinion: Positive 

As a result of testing undertaken, three ‘medium’ and one ‘low’ priority findings were identified. 
Management actions were agreed in respect of all the findings. 

The medium priority findings relate to: 

Page 5 of 37

25



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 5 

 The Council are unaware if Civica can provide system blockages for user conflicts of interest 
such as taking calls and processing family members on Civica. As part of a walkthrough, an 
instance was identified where a member of staff had dealt with a case of a family member. Good 
practice is for this conflict of interest to be managed closer. 

 At present, no formal process is in place for cleansing old date stored in Civica and as such data 
is being held for longer than required. 

 At present, Civica is the main CRM system in use at the Council, however, older CRM systems 
are still in use for some departments causing inefficiencies and the Council is not fully benefitting 
from the purchased Civica software.  

Page 6 of 37

26



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 6 

Assignment area  Timing per approved              
IA plan 2019/20 

Status 

Communication – Social Media  Quarter 1 Draft Report Issued 

Complaints and Freedom of Information  Quarter 2 Not Yet Due 

IT Review  Quarter 2 Not Yet Due 

Health and Safety  Quarter 2 Not Yet Due 

Capital Strategy  Quarter 2 Not Yet Due 

Enforcement - Littering  Quarter 3 Not Yet Due 

Risk Management   Quarter 3 Not Yet Due 

Purchasing Cards  Quarter 3 Not Yet Due 

Procurement and Contracts  Quarter 3 Not Yet Due 

Homelessness  Quarter 3 Not Yet Due 

Follow Up 2  Quarter 3 Not Yet Due 

Flexible Working  Quarter 4 Not Yet Due 

Void Management  Quarter 4 Not Yet Due 

Planning Service  Quarter 4 Not Yet Due 

 

3 LOOKING AHEAD 

Page 7 of 37

27



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 7 

4.1 Changes to the audit plan  
There have been no changes made to the Internal Audit Plan. 

4.2 Quality Assurance and Continual Improvement  

To ensure that RSM remains compliant with the PSIAS framework we have a dedicated internal Quality Assurance 
Team who undertake a programme of reviews to ensure the quality of our audit assignments. This is applicable to all 
Heads of Internal Audit, where a sample of their clients will be reviewed. Any findings from these reviews being used 
to inform the training needs of our audit teams. 

The Quality Assurance Team is made up of: Ross Wood (Manager, Quality Assurance Department) with support from 
other team members across the Department. All reports are reviewed by James Farmbrough as the Head of the 
Quality Assurance Department. 

This is in addition to any feedback we receive from our post assignment surveys, client feedback, appraisal processes 
and training needs assessments. 
 

4.3 Post Assignment Surveys  
We are committed to delivering an excellent client experience every time we work with you. Your feedback helps us to 
improve the quality of the service we deliver to you. Currently, following the completion of each product we deliver we 
attached a brief survey for the client lead to complete.  

We would like to give you the opportunity to consider how frequently you receive these feedback requests; and 
whether the current format works. Options available are: 

 After each product (current option); 
 Monthly / quarterly / annual feedback request; and 
 Executive lead only, or executive lead and key team members. 

 

 

 

 

  

4 OTHER MATTERS 

Page 8 of 37

28



 

  South Kesteven District Council | Internal audit progress report | 8 

APPENDIX A: INTERNAL AUDIT ASSIGNMENTS 
COMPLETED TO DATE 
Report previously seen by the Governance and Audit Committee and included for information purposes only: 

Assignment Status Opinion issued 
Actions agreed 

H M L 

Follow Up 1 (1.19/20) Final  Reasonable progress   0   9   4 

 

  

Page 9 of 37

29



 

rsmuk.com 

This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM 
Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party. 
 
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are 
not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. 
Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact. This report, or our work, should not be taken 
as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise 
that the responsibility for a sound system of internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied 
upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should our work be relied upon to identify all 
circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 
 
Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of South Kesteven District Council, and solely for the purposes 
set out herein. This report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party 
wishing to acquire any rights from RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. Any third 
party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in 
respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature 
which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 
 
This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save 
as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), without our prior written consent. 
 
We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  
 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 
6th floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB. 

 

Chris Williams, Head of Internal 
Audit 

chris.williams@rsmuk.com 

Address: 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP 
Suite A, 7th Floor 
City Gate East 
Tollhouse Hill 
Nottingham NG1 5FS 

Phone: 01159 644450 
Mobile: 07753 584993 

 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

Page 10 of 37

30



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

1.1 Background  
A review of Building Control was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council (Council) as part of the approved 
internal audit periodic plan for 2019/20. 

Building Control is a service that ensures that building work satisfies the minimum standards required by the Building 
Regulations. Building regulations are legal requirements aimed at achieving adequate standards of building work for 
the construction of domestic, commercial and industrial buildings.   

Building Control services are provided by the Council through East Midlands Building Consultancy (EMBC). EMBC is a 
Local Authority Building Control Partnership between South Kesteven District Council, Newark and Sherwood District 
Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council. 

A Partnership Board is in place to monitor the service and meets on a quarterly basis. The membership of the 
Partnership Board consists of members from each of the three local authorities.     

The EMBC Team is led by the Building Control Lead Officer - Building Control (Shared Services) and is assisted by 
three Team Leaders, six Administrators, 10 Surveyors and one Technical Assessor.    

2,011 Building Control applications were received by EMBC during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019.  

 

1.2 Conclusion 
This review has confirmed that the Council has in place adequate controls for Building Control, but it was identified 
that these controls are not always sufficiently complied with. We have therefore agreed with management and raised 
four ‘medium’ and two ‘low’ priority management actions. Further details are provided in section 2 of this report.   

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take reasonable assurance that the controls in place to 
manage this area are suitably designed and consistently 
applied. However, we have identified issues that need to 
be addressed in order to ensure that the control 
framework is effective in managing the identified area(s). 

 

1.3 Key findings 
The key findings from this review are as follows: 

 The Building Control Surveyors receive newsletters from the Local Authority Building Control (LABC) on at least a 
monthly basis. New staff are provided training on a one-to-one basis. There has been no new staff joining the 
Team in the past 12 months. Where appropriate training on any changes in legislation is provided and is also 
discussed at Team meetings. 

BUILDING CONTROL - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page 11 of 37

31



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

 The South Kesteven District Council website includes a page on planning and building control and provides a link 
to the (EMBC) website. The EMBC website provides information on the service and applicants can complete 
applications, book inspections and view applications.  

 EMBC is a Local Authority Building Control Partnership between South Kesteven District Council, Newark and 
Sherwood District Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council and as such are not permitted to market their services. 

 Fees and charges applicable to provision of the Building Control service are guided by The Building (Local 
Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. The fees were reviewed and updated and were approved by the Cabinet in 
November 2016 and became effective from January 2017. It was confirmed that the fees and charges are 
published on the EMBC’s website.   

 Payment of Building Control fees can be made by telephone (debit/credit card), by cheque or bank transfer/BACs. 

 Testing a sample of 20 applications confirmed that in all case a reference number had been allocated to the 
application by the Uniform system; and the date of receipt of the application was also recorded on the system. 

 Site inspections are carried out the following day unless notification is received before 10am in which case the 
inspection is carried out the same day resource permitting. Inspection notifications are recorded on the Uniform  
system. For the same sample of 20 testing confirmed that in all cases the inspections were carried out and on a 
timely basis; a final inspection was carried out and inspection notes were recorded onto the system.   

 A report is produced each week of the applications in the Uniform system. The report is reviewed for the status of 
the applications, time limits are adhered to, monitoring progress made with the applications and where appropriate 
staff are reminded of impending deadlines. Reports are also produced each month to monitor the service and the 
report are the basis of Bi-monthly reports to the Partnership Board.  

 A range of Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) have been developed to measure key aspects of the Building 
Control service.  

However, testing identified the following weakness and as a result we have agreed four ‘medium’ and two ‘low’ 
category management actions, and these relate to: 

 Procedural guidance is provided to staff and are maintained on their individual files and not held centrally. This may 
result in the most up to date guidance not being referred to.  

 The contract between South Kesteven District Council, Rushcliffe Borough Council and Newark and Sherwood 
District Council for the provision of Building Control services was put into place in 2015 for the period 1 April 2016 
and 31 March 2019. The deed of variation to this contract is yet to be signed by the contracting parties.    

 Testing a sample of 20 applications identified that in four cases the fees were quoted. It was noted that in one of 
the four cases a copy of the quote could not be located on the file.  

 For the same sample of 20 applications it was identified that; in two cases a receipt could not be located  on the 
file; in one case the validity code was not recorded on the Uniform system; and in eight cases the 
acknowledgement could not be located on the file.   

 For the same sample of 20 applications in five cases a decision notice was required to be issued. Testing identified 
that in two of these cases the decision notice was issued nine weeks and three weeks respectively after the target 
decision date.      

 For the same sample of 20, testing identified that one case the completion certificate was not maintained on file.  

 

 

 

Page 12 of 37

32



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 

reviewed in this area.  

Area Control 
design not 
effective* 

Non-
Compliance 

with controls* 

Agreed management actions 

Low Medium High 

Policies and Procedures 0 (2) 2 (2) 1 1 0 

Staff Training 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0 0 

Provision of Information 0 (3) 0 (3) 0 0 0 

Processing of Applications 0 (7) 4 (7) 1 3 0 

Management Information and Reporting 0 (2) 0 (2) 0 0 0 

Total  
 

2 4 0 

Page 13 of 37

33



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Area: Contractual Agreement 

1 Documented 
procedures are in place 
providing guidance on 
the Building Control 
processes and are 
made available to staff. 

Yes No Documented procedures are in place 
for Building Control. The Office 
Administrator Building Control (Shared 
Services) advised that when a new 
member of staff joins the Team a copy 
of the procedures are emailed to them 
and they maintain a copy of the 
procedures on their file.   

The procedures were put in place when 
the new Uniform system was introduced 
in 2015. 

There is a risk that where staff maintain 
procedures individually the most up to 
date guidance may not be referred to 
and as a result errors and/or omission 
may occur in processing of Building 
Control applications.   

Low Documented procedure 
notes for Building Control 
will be maintained on a 
central folder accessible 
to all relevant staff. 

31 July 2019 Office 
Administrator 
Building Control 
(Shared 
Services) 

Page 14 of 37

34



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Area: Policies and Procedures 

2 The roles and 
responsibilities in 
respect of Building 
Control are clearly 
defined. 

Yes No A Building Control Contract is in Place. 
The contract is between South 
Kesteven District Council, Rushcliffe 
Borough Council and Newark and 
Sherwood District Council and iss for 
period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2019.    

A deed of variation has been prepared 
by the Council’s Legal Team and the 
document states that: 

“This Agreement shall come into force 
on the Commencement Date and shall 
continue until 31 March 2020 or until 
terminated in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement.” 

It was however noted that the deed of 
variation has as yet to be signed by the 
contracting parties (South Kesteven 
District Council, Rushcliffe Borough 
Council and Newark and Sherwood 
District Council).    

There is a risk that in an event of a 
dispute or query the Council may not 
have a recourse. 

Medium There have been delays 
in Legal in preparing the 
deed of variation.  

The deed of variation 
extending the Building 
Control Contract for 
another year to 31 March 
2020 has now been 
prepared and will be 
signed and dated by all 
contracting parties 
(South Kesteven District 
Council, Rushcliffe 
Borough Council and 
Newark and Sherwood 
District Council) as soon 
as possible. 

31 July 2019 Building Control 
Lead Officer - 
Building Control 
(Shared 
Services) 

Page 15 of 37

35



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Area: Processing of Applications 

3 Applications are 
checked on receipt to 
ensure the correct fee 
has been paid, with the 
fee checked against the 
approved Fees and 
Charges or quote 
provided. 

Yes No For a sample of 20 applications, testing 
confirmed that:  

a) In four cases the fees were based on 
quotes and it was noted that in two of 
these cases the quote could not be 
located on the file.  

There is a risk that in an event of a 
query the information / calculation may 
not be available to support the quote.  

b) In the remaining 16 cases testing 
confirmed that the fees were charged in 
accordance with the approved Fees and 
Charges.    

Low Staff will be reminded by 
email to ensure that the 
detail of the quote(s) is 
maintained on file with 
the application. 

31 July 2019 Building Control 
Lead Officer - 
Building Control 
(Shared 
Services) 

4 Payments are received 
and receipted in a 
timely manner. A written 
acknowledgement is 
issued to applicants 
following validation, 
registration onto the 
Uniform system and 
receipt of the correct 
fee. 

Yes No For the same sample of 20 applications, 
testing confirmed that:    

a) In 18 cases, on receipt of the fees a 
receipt was issued to the applicant and 
a copy was maintained on file. 
However, in two cases the receipt could 
not be located on the file.   

There is a risk that the applicant may 
not be aware of the fees being received 
by the Team.    

b) In 19 cases the validity code for the 
application was recorded on the 
Uniform system, however, in one case 
the validity code was not recorded on 
system.    

There is a risk that where the validity 
code is not recorded the data reported 

Medium Staff will be reminded by 
email to ensure that:   

a) The validity code is 
recorded on the Uniform 
system.   

b) A copy of the receipt is 
maintained on file with 
the application.  

c) A written 
acknowledgement is 
issued to applicants 
following validation, 
registration onto the 
Uniform system and 
receipt of the correct fee 
and a copy is maintained 
on file. 

31 July 2019 Building Control 
Lead Officer - 
Building Control 
(Shared 
Services) 

Page 16 of 37

36



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

on the applications may not be 
accurate.   

c) In eight cases it could not be 
confirmed that a written 
acknowledgement was issued to 
applicants as a copy could not be 
located on the file.    

There is a risk that applicant may not be 
aware of the application and the fees 
being received by the Team. 

5 Decisions on 
applications are made 
within the five-week 
statutory period 
following receipt (or two 
calendar months with 
prior agreement of the 
applicant). The Decision 
is authorised by the 
Assistant Director, 
Commercial an 
Operational and an 
authorised officer 
(Surveyor). 

Yes No For the same sample of 20 applications, 
testing confirmed that:   

a) For 15 cases theses related to 
Building Notices and Regularisation 
where a decision notice is not required 
to be issued.  

b) In three cases the decision notices 
were issued within the required target 
times.    

c) In the remaining two cases the 
decision notice was issued nine weeks 
and three weeks respectively after the 
target decision date.      

There is a risk that the statutory period 
for processing the applications may not 
be met. 

Medium Staff will be reminded by 
email to ensure that the 
decision notices are 
issued within the 
statutory periods (five 
weeks or eight weeks in 
event of an extension to 
the time period). 

31 July 2019 Building Control 
Lead Officer - 
Building Control 
(Shared 
Services) 

Page 17 of 37

37



 

  South Kesteven District Council Building Control 2.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

6 Upon satisfactory 
completion of works, a 
Completion Certificate 
is issued to the 
applicant and signed off 
by authorised officers 
(Assistant Director, 
Commercial an 
Operational and an 
authorised officer 
(Surveyor). 

Yes No For the same sample of 20 applications, 
testing confirmed that:  

a) In 19 cases the completion certificate 
was issued by the authorised officers. 

b) In the remaining one case the 
completion certificate could not be 
located on the file.   

There is a risk that in event of a query 
the Council may not be able to evidence 
that a completion certificate was issued. 

Medium Staff will be reminded by 
email to ensure that a 
copy of the certificate 
issued to the applicant is 
maintained on file. 

31 July 2019 Building Control 
Lead Officer - 
Building Control 
(Shared 
Services) 

Page 18 of 37

38



 

  South Kesteven District Council Allocations and Lettings 3.19/20 

1.1 Background  
A review of Allocations and Lettings was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the approved 
internal audit periodic plan for 2019/20. 

The Council operates a Housing Register listing applicants for council housing. The Council’s Housing Register is a 
local register of housing need and all applicants seeking social housing in the district need to apply through the 
Housing Register. There is a high demand for housing in the district and only those applicants with the greatest need 
are prioritised for housing e.g. homelessness medical, mobility and access, and overcrowding.  

The Council does not award any priority on the Housing Register where an applicant has no established local 
connection to the South Kesteven District.   

The Housing Team is led by a Housing Management Lead and is assisted by a team of staff. 

Within the Housing Team there is a dedicated Housing Register Team (of two staff) who are responsible for all 
housing applications and undertake eligibility and assess the application. These members of staff also allocate the 
priority banding. The Allocations Team are responsible for the allocation process. The applicant in the highest band is 
generally allocated the next available property that matches his/her requirements and preferences and for which 
he/she is eligible. The Housing Management Team are responsible for the letting process and management of the 
tenancy.  

The Council has 6200 housing properties and at the time of the audit there were 1,750 applicants on the Housing 
Register. 865 lettings have been undertaken during the period June 2018 to June 2019.  

 

1.2 Conclusion  
This review has confirmed that the Council has in place adequate controls for Allocations and Lettings and that these 
controls are sufficiently complied with. However, we identified weaknesses in the controls and have agreed two ‘low’ 
priority management actions. Further details are provided in section 2 of this report.   

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take substantial assurance that the controls upon which 
the Council relies to manage the identified risk are suitably 
designed, consistently applied and operating effectively. 

 

 

 

 

ALLOCATIONS AND LETTINGS - EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 

Page 19 of 37

39



 

  South Kesteven District Council Allocations and Lettings 3.19/20 

1.3 Key findings 
The key findings from this review are as follows: 

• A Housing Allocation Policy (Amended March 2019) is in place. The Council monitors the effectiveness of this 
Policy on an annual basis to ensure that the contents continue to meet the needs of households seeking social 
housing in the District;  

• Housing Allocations Policy is made available to the staff on the Council’s website, on the server and on the internal 
intranet;  

• The Allocation procedures are included in the Policy document. A flowchart is also included, and this sets out the 
actions to be taken when a tenant gives notices to terminate a tenancy;  

• It was also confirmed that Policies and Procedures in respect of: Assignment; Succession  and Mutual Exchange  
were also in place;  

• Testing a sample of 20 properties confirmed that in all 20 cases:  

 On receipt of notification of the termination of the tenancy, the Voids Team carried out a pre-inspection to 
determine the works to be undertaken; 

 The voids works were carried out on a timely basis; and   

 The post inspection was carried out to confirm the void works were carried out to the Letting Standard, the 
inspection was carried out on a timely basis and the keys were passed back to Housing;      

• Applications to join the Register are subject to verification checks for all members of the household who form part of 
the Housing Register application. For the same sample of 20 testing confirmed that in all cases verification checks 
were undertaken and evidence to confirm the verification was maintained on file; 

• For the same sample of 20 testing confirmed that in all cases:  

 The Allocations Team matched the property to the applicant with the highest banding priority who has been in 
that band for the longest period of time and who met the allocation criteria;   

  A Pre-tenancy check was carried out and evidence was maintained on file; 

 The applicant was issued an offer letter and was invited to view the property;  

 A signed Tenancy agreement was held on file; and 

 The New Tenancy details form was completed, and the tenancy details were input onto the system;  

• Hard to let properties are considered on an individual basis. This is based on the number of  refusals for the 
property. The reason for the refusal is reviewed. If the property is found not to meet the Lettings Standard, then the 
property is returned to voids for further works to be carried out; 

• A dedicated member of the Improvements and Repairs Team (Senior Performance/ Admin Supervisor) is 
responsible for producing the voids monitoring data such as number of voids, turnaround time and the average cost 
of voids and making this available to senior management for performance review;  

• File review established that all the Housing Register Team,  Allocations Team staff and Housing Management 
Team staff undertook online fraud awareness training and updates are provided through team meetings also; and  

• For a sample of five complaints received in respect of the Housing Register and Allocations and Lettings testing 
confirmed that in all five cases the complaints were investigated, and a response was provided to the complainant 
on a timely basis.   

 

 

Page 20 of 37

40



 

  South Kesteven District Council Allocations and Lettings 3.19/20 

 

However, testing identified the following weakness and as a result we have agreed two ‘low’ priority management 
actions, and these relate to: 

• A Tenancy Strategy was not in place at the time of the audit. A draft Tenancy Strategy was provided to us 
subsequent to the completion of the audit. The strategy  was approved for consultation by the Cabinet on 9 July 
2019; and  

• On testing the same sample of 20 lettings testing identified five instances where the introductory tenancy visit made 
at six weeks was undertaken at 21, 22, 23 and 71 calendar days past the six weeks date. In one case for a 
Tenancy which commenced in July 2018 the tenancy visit had not been undertaken. 

  

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 
reviewed in this area. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Risk Control 
design not 
effective*

Non-
Compliance 

with controls*

Agreed management actions
Low Medium High 

Allocations and letting are not dealt with 
consistently and in line with Council policy 
resulting in failure to comply with the 
Housing Act and associated legislation. 

0 (16) 2 (16) 2 0 0 

Total  
 

2 0 0 

Page 21 of 37

41



 

  South Kesteven District Council Allocations and Lettings 3.19/20 

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 
Categorisation of internal audit findings 
Priority Definition

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality.

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines.

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those risks of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Risk: Allocations and letting are not dealt with consistently and in line with Council policy resulting in failure to comply with the Housing Act and associated 
legislation. 

1 Policies and procedures 
are in place in relation 
to allocations and 
lettings and are made 
available to all the staff. 

Yes No A South Kesteven District Council 
Introductory Tenancies operating 
procedure is in place. The document 
is dated June 2011 and includes the 
procedures on undertaking the  
tenancy visits. A sign-up procedure 
dated 2018 is also in place. The 
procedures also includes a sign-up 
check list. 

At the time of the audit it was 
confirmed that there was a draft 
Tenancy Strategy in place which 
was approved for consultation by 
Cabinet on 9 July 2019.  

There is a risk that up to date 
guidance in not in place and as a 

Low On completion of the 
consultation on the 
Tenancy Strategy and 
approval of this Strategy 
by the Cabinet the 
Tenancy Strategy will be 
published on the 
Council’s website and will 
be communicated and 
disseminated to all the 
staff. 

31 December 
2019 

Housing 
Management 

Lead 

Page 22 of 37

42



 

  South Kesteven District Council Allocations and Lettings 3.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

result there may be inconsistencies 
in the lettings and tenancy 
management.    

2 A Tenancy visit is 
undertaken for 
introductory tenancies 
at six weeks and at nine 
months after the 
tenancy start date, 

Yes No For the same sample of 20 testing 
identified that:    

Six-weekly visits 

a) In four cases the visit at six weeks 
was not yet due at the time of the 
audit.   

b) In 11 cases the visit was 
undertaken at six weeks/within a 
reasonable time past the six weeks  
(between one and nine calendar 
days following the six-week period). 

c) In four cases the visit was 
undertaken between 21 and 71 
calendar days past the six weeks 
period.  

d) In one case for a tenancy which 
commenced on 9 July 2018 the 
tenancy visit had not been 
undertaken. On further review we 
were advised that on 
commencement of the tenancy the 
dates for the visits were not 
recorded on the housing system and 
hence a visit had not taken place.    

Nine-months visit 

a) In 17 cases the visit was not due 
at the time of the audit.   

b) In two cases the visits had been 
undertaken as required. 

Low a) A New Tenancy Visits 
monitoring process has 
been put in place to 
monitor the visits.   

b) All the relevant staff 
will be reminded to 
ensure that the tenancy 
visits are:  

i) Are recorded onto the 
system; and   

ii) Made within the 
prescribed timeframes. 

31 July 2019 Housing 
Management 
Lead 

Page 23 of 37

43



 

  South Kesteven District Council Allocations and Lettings 3.19/20 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 

with 

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

c) In one case, the six-weeks visit 
was overlooked and as a result the 
nine-month visit was also 
subsequently not undertaken.   

There is a risk that where tenancy 
visits are not undertaken on a timely 
basis, issues if any with the tenancy 
may not be identified and on a timely 
basis and this may result in a 
financial loss to the Council. 

Page 24 of 37

44



 

  South Kesteven District Council Housing Benefits 4.19/20  

1.1 Background  
A review of Housing Benefits was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the approved internal audit 
periodic plan for 2019/20. 

Housing Benefit is a means-tested benefit which is intended to help people on low incomes pay their rent and 
payments can be made either to the claimant or directly to their landlord. Eligibility criteria is defined by central 
government and the amount awarded to claimants, known as their 'entitlement', varies depending on whether they are 
tenants of a private or social landlord such as the Council, the amount of their rent, their level of income and personal 
circumstances such as age and disabilities. Housing Benefit is being gradually phased out and replaced by Universal 
Credit, which is a lump-sum benefit encompassing all of a claimant's entitlements as opposed to claiming separate 
benefits such as Housing Benefit from the Council and Jobseeker's Allowance from the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP). 

Housing Benefits administered by a dedicated Benefits Team comprising 10 Benefits Assessors, three Team Leaders, 
two Technical Support Officers, a System Support Officer and a Fraud and Overpayments Officer who are managed 
by the Revenues and Benefits Manager. The Team use a dedicated revenues and benefits system which 
automatically assesses claimants' eligibility and calculates their entitlement based on their details which are entered 
into the system by the Benefits Team. Each year the DWP provides the Council with a list of benefit rates to enter into 
the system, such as the weekly amount a couple over the age of 65 are entitled to. Claimants can make a claim via a 
postal application form, an in-person appointment or a telephone appointment, and supporting documentation must be 
provided to the Council to evidence their circumstances before the claim will be progressed. A separate document 
management system is used to file electronic copies of evidence. 

The Council is notified of changes to claimants' circumstances through a number of channels, including directly from 
the claimant and notification from other organisations such as the DWP. Certain changes, such as an increase in the 
claimant's income, may result in an overpayment occurring, which is where more money is paid to the claimant than 
they are now entitled to based on their new circumstance. The revenues and benefits system automatically identifies 
overpayments, these can then be recovered either through the regular debt recovery process or by making deductions 
from their entitlement if there is an ongoing active claim. 

1.2 Conclusion 
Through review of the control framework surrounding the management of Housing Benefits at South Kesteven District 
Council it was established that controls are well designed and consistently complied with. Minor weaknesses have 
been identified resulting in the agreement of two 'low' priority management actions being raised. 

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take substantial assurance that the controls upon which 
the organisation relies to manage the identified area(s) are 
suitably designed, consistently applied and operating 
effectively. 

 

HOUSING BENEFITS - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page 25 of 37

45



 

  South Kesteven District Council Housing Benefits 4.19/20  

1.3 Key findings 
The key findings from this review are as follows: 

• Procedure notes are stored on a shared central drive to provide guidance to staff on the key functions and 
processes of the Benefits Team. The notes are updated on an ad-hoc basis when there are changes to reflect. 

• Access to the revenues and benefits system is administered by the System Support Officer who grants access upon 
request from the staff member's line manager. Testing of a sample of 20 system users confirmed that all are current 
members of staff. 

• At the end of each financial year the DWP provides the Council with a list of benefit entitlement rates which will be in 
effect in the new financial year. The Benefits Team enter these rates into the revenues and benefits system to 
enable the system to calculate claimants' benefit entitlement. Testing of a sample of 20 benefit rates confirmed that 
all were accurately entered on to the system to enable to accurate calculation of entitlements. 

• Testing of a sample of 20 new claims confirmed that supporting evidence was on file to support the claimant's 
circumstances and the details were accurately entered on to the revenues and benefits system to enable the 
accurate calculation of entitlements. All 20 were processed within the two-week internal target. 

• New claims which have been processed by the Benefits Team are reviewed for accuracy on a sample basis each 
day by the Benefits Team Leaders. 

• Testing of a sample of 20 changes to circumstances confirmed that all 20 were accurately reflected on the system. 

• A list of proposed Housing Benefit payments is reviewed by two members of the Benefits Team and independently 
by a member of the Finance Team. The reports are provided to Exchequer Services who review and submit the 
payments. Testing of the 16 payment runs in the current financial year confirmed that there is segregation of duties 
throughout the process and the values of the payments matched throughout. 

• Overpayments are identified automatically by the revenues and benefits system. Letters and invoices are sent to 
claimants to inform them of the overpayment and to recover the debt. Testing of a sample of 20 overpayments 
confirmed that recovery action has been taken against all 20. 

• Write off limits are set up within the system and users are not able to process write offs over this limit. A Request for 
Write Off form is completed by the member of staff proposing the write off, this is then authorised by a second 
member of the Benefits Team, with the exception of amounts under £100 which the Overpayments Officer can self-
authorise. Testing of a sample of 20 write offs confirmed that an independently authorised Request for Write Off 
form was on file for all amounts over £100 and all 20 were written off within limits. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26 of 37

46



 

  South Kesteven District Council Housing Benefits 4.19/20  

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 
reviewed in this area. 

 
 

Area Control 
design not 
effective*

Non-
compliance 
with controls*

Agreed management actions
Low Medium High 

We will undertake a review to ensure that 
applications received are done so in line 
with policy, procedure, and are subject to 
an independent check. We will also ensure 
that changes in circumstances are 
processed correctly and in a timely 
manner. 

0 (10) 2 (10) 2 0 0 

We will also review any qualification points 
in the Housing Benefits grant validation 
work and undertake sample testing to 
ensure the Council is dealing with claims in 
line with Housing Benefits grant 
requirements 

0 (1) 0 (1) 0 0 0 

Total  
 

2 0 0 

Page 27 of 37

47



 

  South Kesteven District Council Housing Benefits 4.19/20  

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 
Categorisation of internal audit findings 
Priority Definition

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality.

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines.

 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Area: We will undertake a review to ensure that applications received are done so in line with policy, procedure, and are subject to an independent check. We will 
also ensure that changes in circumstances are processed correctly and in a timely manner. 

1 Access to the revenues 
and benefits system is 
restricted appropriately 
based on the user's job 
role. Staff are required 
to complete annual 
Declarations of Interest 
(DoI) and their access 
to declared accounts is 
restricted / revoked 
appropriately. 

Yes No Testing of a sample of 20 current 
revenues and benefits system users 
identified:   

• 18/20 are current members of 
staff;  

• 2/20 are from a third-party 
software provider / Agency (no 
issues) therefore are not required 
to complete a DoI or have access 
restricted to any accounts;  

• 18/18 a DoI form is on file 
however, the majority (13) of 
these were dated January 2018, 
one in February 2018, one in April 

Low DOIs will be issued 
annually to all necessary 
staff to ensure that any 
new interests are 
identified and individuals' 
system access updated 
to block them from the 
interest declared. 

31 August 2019 Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

Page 28 of 37

48



 

  South Kesteven District Council Housing Benefits 4.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

2018 and one in September 2018, 
two others were not dated; and In 
all instances where declarations 
have been made the staff member 
is unable to access the declared 
accounts as the account has been 
blocked against their username.   

We were informed that the DoIs 
were not updated within the annual 
schedule as other tasks took priority 
due to the changes occurring 
internally within the Council and the 
impact of changes made by the 
DWP. We were able to confirm that 
the 2019/20 DoI forms were issued 
during the audit.  

However, there is a risk that with the 
DoI's not being completed annually, 
any new interests known and not 
declared may be missed for staff to 
be blocked from accessing them on 
the system. 

2 Overpayments are 
identified automatically 
by the revenues and 
benefits system and 
addressed by the 
Benefits Team in a 
manner depending on 
the reason for the 
overpayment. 

Yes No Testing of a sample of 20 
overpayments confirmed that steps 
were taken to recover the 
overpayment in all 20 instances.    

19/20 overpayments were caused by 
changes in the claimant's 
circumstances. One overpayment 
was due to Council error. The 
overpayment was of a significant 
amount (£11,000); small amounts 
each week for several years. 
Through discussion with members of 
the Benefits Team we were informed 

Low Each benefit claim which 
is required to be referred 
to the Rent Officer will be 
independently checked 
by a Benefits Team 
Leader prior to being 
submitted. 

31 August 2019 Head of 
Customer 
Experience 

Page 29 of 37

49



 

  South Kesteven District Council Housing Benefits 4.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

that this was an uncommon "lodger" 
claim (rather than a proper tenant) 
and was due to a "meals not 
included" tick box not being ticked 
when the claim was first sent to the 
Rent Officer when it was originally 
claimed approximately eight years 
ago. Staff informed us that the 
claimant would not have been aware 
that the amount being paid was 
incorrect due to the small weekly 
difference in value, therefore the 
amount cannot be recovered and 
has been proposed for write off.   

The Benefits Team informed us that 
claims by lodgers are relatively 
uncommon, and situations where 
meals need to be disregarded even 
more uncommon. However, there 
remains a risk that scenarios such 
as this are not detected which could 
lead to the Council losing money if 
benefits claims are overpaid. 

Page 30 of 37

50



 

  South Kesteven District Council Customer Relationship Management 5.19/20 

1.1 Background  
A review of Customer Relationship Management (CRM) was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of 
the approved internal audit periodic plan for 2019/20. 

CRM is a technology for managing all relationships and interactions with customers and future customers and is in 
place to hold a single central record for staff at the Council to access and update. At present, the Council’s main CRM 
system is Civica which they have a Universal Package for which provides all Civica modules that the Council wishes to 
utilise. It is intended for all departments to use Civica in the near future as it was identified that currently some 
departments, such as Environmental Health, Grounds Maintenance and Land Charges are using old CRM systems.  

Day to day support for Civica within the Council is provided by the Projects Delivery Officer and Systems Support 
Programmer who are system ‘administrators’ with full access. Additional technical support is provided by Civica for 
matters that cannot be dealt with internally. The roles of these ‘administrators’ falls under the remit of the Customer 
Service Manager and Head of Customer Experience.  

Some of the Departments currently utilising Civica include Housing, Council Tax, Revenues and Benefits, Licensing 
Waste and Neighbourhoods. The Council are currently investigating further modules such as a specific Complaints 
and Freedom of Information Module and a Data Disposal Module.  

 

1.2 Conclusion 
Our overall opinion was formed by undertaking interviews with key staff and sample testing on the processes in place 
to ensure that the controls upon which the Council relies on to manage Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
are being managed. Our review has confirmed that there is an adequate control framework in place, however, this 
control framework can be further enhanced and improved and there were also some areas of non-adherence to 
controls. As such, a total of four management actions were agreed, consisting of three ‘medium’ and one ‘low’ priority 
actions.  
 

Internal audit opinion: 
Taking account of the issues identified, the Council can 
take reasonable assurance that the controls in place to 
manage this area are suitably designed and consistently 
applied. However, we have identified issues that need to 
be addressed in order to ensure that the control 
framework is effective in managing the identified area. 

 

 

 

 

 

CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT - 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Page 31 of 37

51



 

  South Kesteven District Council Customer Relationship Management 5.19/20 

1.3 Key findings 
The key findings from this review are as follows: 

• Detailed procedure notes are in place for the use of the CRM system Civica which include screenshot 
walkthroughs of the processes in place. These are maintained up to date and available to staff on the shared drive. 

 
• Staff training is informally delivered by the Project Delivery Officer for Civica for any members of staff who use 

Civica or require assistance and the Operations Co-Ordinator for Customer Services. This training can be on 
specific areas of their role or general queries. 

 
• Two Administrators have been set up on Civica who have full access to the system and are responsible for 

resolving issues, setting up access and general maintenance. 
 
• Information stored in the Civica system is relevant to each department and assigned to each customer account, 

this information is only visible to members of staff with certain levels of access. 
 
• The Council has the Universal Package for Civica which provides them with access to any Civica module. The 

Council has a total availability of 1,000 licences. Support from Civica is available for any technical issues or module 
installations. The Council currently use around 250 licenses with other departments still to be added to the system. 

 
• Meetings are undertaken twice a year with each service area to establish any issues or needs with regards to CRM 

and from this an overarching action plan has been created. 
 
• For each contact received from customers, a query resolution is completed which details the type of contact, which 

department it relates to and who dealt with the contact. This enables the Customer Services Department to 
recharge other departments for their time dealing with customers. Customers are contacted based on this process 
to provide satisfaction feedback and this is reported through the Pentana system. 

 
• The Civica system is hosted on the Trafalgar Server which has a full backup, on Friday and a mixed backup 

performed daily. 

However, the following control improvements or non-adherence to controls were identified: 

• User access is set up or removed by the Project Delivery Officer or the Systems Support Programmer upon receipt 
of notification from the HR or IT Department. However, testing a sample of 10 leavers identified in one instance the 
member of staffs access had not been removed.  

 
• The Council are unaware if Civica can provide system blockages for user conflicts of interest such as taking calls 

and processing family members on Civica. As part of a walkthrough, an instance was identified where a member of 
staff had dealt with a case of a family member. Good practice is for this conflict of interest to be managed closer. 

 
• At present, no formal process is in place for cleansing old date stored in Civica and as such data is being held for 

longer than required. 
 
• At present, Civica is the main CRM system in use at the Council, however, older CRM systems are still in use for 

some departments causing inefficiencies and the Council is not fully benefitting from the purchased Civica 
software. 

 

 

Page 32 of 37

52



 

  South Kesteven District Council Customer Relationship Management 5.19/20 

1.4 Additional information to support our conclusion 
The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made. The detailed findings section 
lists the specific actions agreed with management to implement. 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls 
reviewed in this area. 

Area Control 
design not 
effective*

Non-
Compliance 

with controls*

Agreed Management Actions
Low Medium High 

CRM 2 (12) 2 (12) 1 3 0 

Total  
 

1 3 0 

Page 33 of 37

53



 

  South Kesteven District Council Customer Relationship Management 5.19/20  

2 DETAILED FINDINGS 
Categorisation of internal audit findings 
Priority Definition

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality.

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which could affect the 
effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible regulatory scrutiny/reputational damage, negative publicity in local 
or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial losses, violation 
of corporate strategies, policies or values, regulatory scrutiny, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or adverse 
regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines.

 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in control identified 
from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 

1 User access is set up or 
removed by the Project 
Delivery Officer or the 
Systems Support 
Programmer upon 
receipt of notification 
from the HR or IT 
Department. 

Yes No Testing a sample of 10 current users 
of Civica compared to a HR current 
staff report confirmed in all instances 
the user was currently employed. 
Through review of their access 
rights, it was identified that their 
rights related directly to their job 
roles.   

Testing a sample of 10 leavers 
confirmed in nine instances these 
members of staff had been deleted 
from Civica and were present in the 
deleted users area. However, in one 
instance it was noted the member of 
staff had left in March 2019 but had 

Low All starters and leavers 
will be communicated to 
the Project Delivery 
Officer or the Systems 
Support Programmer to 
enable them to be 
removed from Civica in a 
timely manner. 

30 September 
2019 

Customer 
Service Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34 of 37

54



 

  South Kesteven District Council Customer Relationship Management 5.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

yet to be removed. This member has 
subsequently been removed.   

There is a risk that where leavers 
are not removed in a timely manner, 
the risk of inappropriate and 
unauthorised access to the system. 

2 Missing Control   

The Council are 
unaware if Civica can 
provide system 
blockages for user 
conflicts of interest such 
as taking calls and 
processing family 
members on Civica. 

No - At present, it is not possible to 
effectively manage users conflicts of 
interest as no system blocks are in 
place for this.   

It was confirmed that Civica is a 
document management and CRM 
system and therefore is a method of 
gathering information with the main 
processing completed on other 
departmental systems. For example, 
Revenues and Benefits use Civica 
as a document management system 
and store information for benefits 
claims, however, the processing of 
claims is undertaken via the 
Northgate system.    

However, it was identified as part of 
the audit, a member of Customer 
Services dealt with a call from a 
family member within Civica 
regarding Council bins.    

It is good practice to separate these 
conflicts of interest even when the 
risk is low. 

Medium It will be investigated if 
Civica has the 
functionality to block 
accounts. Alternatively, a 
process will be 
implemented to ensure 
staff are unable to deal 
with contacts from family 
or friends without 
sufficient approval or 
control processes. 

31 December 
2019 

Head of 
Customer 

Experience and 
Customer 

Service Manager 

Page 35 of 37

55



 

  South Kesteven District Council Customer Relationship Management 5.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

3 Missing Control  

Data held in the system 
is periodically removed 
in accordance with the 
Data Retention 
Schedule. 

No - It was confirmed at present data is 
not periodically deleted from the 
system on a periodic basis and the 
Data Retention Schedule was last 
updated in 2012. The Data 
Retention Schedule was raised as 
part of the GDPR audits and 
therefore not raised as part of this 
audit.    

However, the Council are looking 
into the Data Disposal Module of 
Civica and have had an initial 
webinar to understand the module 
and how another Council has 
implemented the system.   

At present, there is an increased risk 
of non-compliance with GDPR 
where data is being held for longer 
than required. Furthermore, there is 
a risk of the system not performing 
to its peak due to the large amount 
of data being held which can slow 
the system down. 

Medium The Data Disposal 
Module for Civica will be 
installed and data will 
periodically be removed 
in line with agreed 
timescales. 

31 October 2019 Customer 
Service Manager 

and Systems 
Support 

Programmer 

4 A single central CRM 
system is in use with a 
full and accurate record 
of all customer data. 
This is utilised by all 
departments. 

Yes No Through interviewing members of 
staff including Operations Co-
Ordinator for Customer Services, 
Systems Support Officer, Data 
Protection Officer and Housing 
Register Officer, it was confirmed 
these are all regular users of Civica. 
It was informed that all are happy 
with the functionality and are 
confident in using the system, 
however, there was a concern that 
not all departments are using Civica 

Medium An increased strategic 
focus will be given to 
Civica to obtain value for 
money and ensure all 
departments are utilising 
Civica to its full potential.   
Resourcing for the 
project will be analysed 
to identify any additional 
needs. 

31 December 
2019 

Head of 
Customer 

Experience 

Page 36 of 37

56



 

  South Kesteven District Council Customer Relationship Management 5.19/20  

Ref Control Adequate 
control 
design 

Controls 
complied 
with

Audit findings and implications Priority Action for management Implementation 
date 

Responsible 
owner 

and this would be beneficial for 
them.    

It was informed that all departments 
will use Civica as their CRM system, 
however, this project is taking time 
to roll out due to a very small team 
dedicated to delivering this. At 
present, older CRM systems are still 
in use for some departments, 
however, these pose a significant 
risk due to them being run on old 
servers and old terminals, which 
increases the risk of loss of data.  

Furthermore, there is a risk of 
inefficiencies where depending on 
the nature of contact from the 
customer, the Customer Services 
Staff may have to change between 
CRM systems to deal with the 
contact which is more time 
consuming and increases chance of 
errors. 

Page 37 of 37

57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Safeguarding Annual Report 2018-19
In accordance with Article 11 of the Constitution, this report presents the annual report on 
Safeguarding to the Governance and Audit Committee which provides an overview of the 
Council’s involvement in the safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable adults for 
2018/19.

Report Author

Carol Drury, Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer

01476 406 161

c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Administrative All Wards

Reviewed by: Mark Jones, Community Resilience Lead 8 August 2019

Approved by: Harry Rai, Assistant Director Housing 19 August 2019

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Communities, Health and Wellbeing 28 August 2019

Recommendation to the decision makers

1. It is recommended that members of the Governance and Audit Committee review 
the appended 2018/19 Safeguarding Annual Report and note its contents.

Governance and Audit 
Committee
25 September 2019

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid

        

Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Health and Wellbeing

59

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 The 2018/19 Safeguarding Annual Report (attached as an appendix) is provided to 

Members in accordance with the Regulatory Framework for the Governance and Audit 
Committee and provides a background to the Council’s safeguarding responsibilities, its 
contribution to local partnerships, national initiatives and its involvement in reviews and 
statutory assessment programmes.

1.2 As a District Council we have a general duty of care and statutory requirements in relation 
to the safeguarding of both children and adults.  In general, our responsibilities are to 
report incidents or concerns to the responsible authority (Lincolnshire County Council) and 
to work with other agencies to ensure the welfare of children and vulnerable adults. The 
Safeguarding Annual Report reflects these duties and highlights how safeguarding is a 
Council-wide responsibility.

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny
2.1  N/A

3 Available Options Considered
3.1 No other options.  This report is provided to Members for information.

4 Preferred Option
4.1 N/A

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s)
5.1 To assure Members of appropriate policy, procedure and action taken relating to the 

safeguarding of vulnerable individuals within the District. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision
6.1 Policy and procedures will be regularly reviewed to ensure they meet with national and 

local requirements.  Training for officers and Elected Members will continue to be available 
both in house and through the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership and 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board.  Any recommendations to come from the 
Lincolnshire Assurance and Assessment Framework will be implemented.

7 Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance

8 Legal and Governance Implications 
8.1 The Committee has been given delegated authority by Council to review the annual report 

on the effectiveness of the Council’s safeguarding arrangements. The Committee should 
therefore consider the effectiveness of safeguarding practices inside the council, to ensure 
it is meeting its statutory safeguarding obligations

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal Services

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 
9.1 Equality impact has been analysed as part of the development and implementation of the 

Safeguarding policy and its associated procedures.  Issues of equality and the fair 

60



treatment of all individuals regardless of their diversity are addressed throughout these 
documents.

10 Risk and Mitigation
10.1 No risk relating to this report have been identified.

11 Community Safety Implications 
11.1 There are no direct community safety implications resulting from this report.  There is 

however the potential for such implications within any individual safeguarding case 
identified in the delivery of our duties.  Any identified implication would be addressed on a 
case by case basis.

12 Other Implications (where significant) 
12.1 None identified

13 Background Papers
13.1 None

14 Appendices
14.1 Safeguarding Annual Report 2018/19

Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required)

Not applicable

Previously Considered by: Governance and 
Audit Committee

21 June 2018

Report Timeline: 

Final Decision date  Not applicable

61



This page is intentionally left blank



Safeguarding
Annual Report 2018/19

63

Appendix 1



Contents

Introduction 3

Protection and Safeguarding Responsibilities 3

Prevent 5

Policy and Procedures 5

Training and Development - Officers 6

Elected Member Training 7

Taxi Drivers 7

Referrals 7

Internal Safeguarding Group 8

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board 8

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board 9

Lincolnshire Assessment and Assurance Framework 10

Going Forward 10

64



Introduction

This report provides an overview of the Authority’s safeguarding responsibilities in relation to 
children, young people and adults at risk of harm.

The Council’s policy makes clear that: “Children, young people and adults with needs for care 
and support have the right to participate and be safe in accessing services provided for them.  
We are committed to carrying out our responsibilities by ensuring that the needs of the people 
we have a statutory and moral duty to keep safe are considered by our staff, councillors, 
volunteers and contractors in the provision of services and our decision making”.

This document further provides an insight into the tools available to officers and elected 
members in the safeguarding of individuals and discusses:

 Our responsibilities as a district council
 Our policy and procedures for safeguarding individuals
 Training and development
 Referrals 
 Statutory partners, reviews and assessments 

Protection and Safeguarding Responsibilities

As a district authority our services are predominantly provided for adults and those who are 
vulnerable must be protected from harm.  This does not mean however that we do not have a 
legal and moral obligation to safeguard children and young people too. The Council has statutory 
duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 and Sections 42-45 of the Care Act 2014 to 
protect individuals from harm and neglect and to co-operate with other agencies.

Our responsibilities for the protection of both children and adults are, in basic terms, the same – 
to report incidents or concerns to the responsible authority (Lincolnshire County Council) and to 
work with other agencies to ensure the welfare of children and vulnerable adults. 

Safeguarding is the broader term used for the measures available to protect the health and 
wellbeing of children, young people and vulnerable adults to live free from abuse, harm and 
neglect. 

In terms of the safeguarding of children and young people1, Lincolnshire has processes for early 
help and intervention which allow agencies to work together to support families at the earliest 
possible time. Through early intervention, children can be the subject of a ‘Team Around the Child’ 
in which the additional needs of the child and its family are met, with their consent, through a 
multi-agency approach.  Depending on the needs of the family, officers from this Authority will be 
invited to attend and participate in Team Around the Child meetings.

The following diagram is the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board’s Continuum of Needs 
which shows when and how the needs of young individuals should be met.

1 A ‘child’ is defined as a person who has not yet reached their 18th birthday (including unborn children). In 
Lincolnshire this definition extends to the age of 25 for people with disabilities.

65



*TAC – Team Around the Child ESCO – Early Support Care Co-ordination YOS – Youth Offending Service

The statutory guidance that accompanies the Care Act 2014 (the Act) defines adult 
safeguarding as “protecting an adult’s right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect.  It is 
about people and organisations working together to prevent and stop both the risks and 
experience of abuse or neglect, while at the same time making sure that the adult’s wellbeing is 
promoted including, where appropriate, having regard to their views, wishes, feelings and 
beliefs in deciding on an action.  This must recognise that adults sometimes have complex 
interpersonal relationships and may be ambivalent, unclear or unrealistic about their personal 
circumstances”

It is clear from this definition that adult safeguarding has its challenges.  The Act is however 
clear that: 

“A local authority2 must act when it has ‘reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area 
(whether or not ordinarily resident there):

 has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of those 
needs)

 is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and
 as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or 

neglect or the risk of it”

In basic terms adult safeguarding is for people who, because of issues such as dementia, 
learning disability, mental ill-health or substance abuse have care and support needs that may 
make them more vulnerable to abuse and neglect.

Safeguarding referrals relating to adults must always be made with the explicit consent of the 
individual unless gaining consent would put the individual in danger. Referral without consent, in 
“the best interests” of the individual can also be made if it is assessed that the person lacks the 
mental capacity (as defined by the Mental Capacity Act 2005) to make an informed decision.

2 The Care Act 2014 and the Statutory Guidance refers throughout to the responsibilities of the Local Authority.  In a 
two-tier county the Local Authority refers to the County Council.

66



Prevent

The introduction of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act in 2015 placed a duty on local 
authorities (County and District in two tier areas) in all our functions to have “due regard to the 
need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”.

In complying with the duty, we are expected to ensure that our venues and resources do not 
provide a platform for extremists and are not used to disseminate extremist views.  This 
includes considering whether IT equipment available to the general public should use filtering 
solutions that limit access to terrorist and extremist material.

We are further expected to ensure that organisations that work with us are not engaged in any 
extremist views and, where appropriate, to take the opportunity when new contracts for the 
delivery of our services are being made to ensure that the principles of the duty are written in to 
those contracts in a suitable form.

Prevent falls within the safeguarding arena.  The grooming of vulnerable individuals into 
radicalisation and extreme ideologies is regarded as a safeguarding concern and must be 
addressed as such.  The referral pathways are different, but the principles are the same.

It is essential to know that Prevent operates in the NON-CRIMINAL space.  This means working 
with individuals who have not yet committed a crime but are vulnerable to radicalisation in 
whatever form that takes.  The aim of Prevent is to support such individuals, to divert them away 
from violent extremism before they commit any criminal acts. Prevent does this through a 
process called Channel. The process is a multi-agency approach to identify and provide support 
to individuals who are at risk of being drawn into extremism. Individuals who exhibit concerning 
behaviour in relation to an extreme ideology can be referred to Channel if they give their explicit 
consent.

This Authority is represented at the Prevent Strategy Board by its Prevent Lead, Mark Jones or 
the Deputy Prevent Officer, Carol Drury. SKDC has been involved in two multi-agency meetings 
arranged at County level to determine whether individuals are in need of support from the 
Channel process.  Neither case met the threshold for Channel.  These individuals were, 
however, identified as vulnerable and alternative support was made available.  We have made 
no direct referrals into Channel during 2018/19. 

Policy and Procedures

A Safeguarding Policy is available to staff and elected Members through the Council’s intranet. 
Hard copies of the policy and supporting guidance and tools are also made available to those 
without access to the intranet.  The policy, along with its procedures for referring incidents and 
concerns reflects the legal and moral duties of the Council in the safeguarding children, young 
people and vulnerable adults from significant harm.

The policy has the generic overview of our Safeguarding responsibilities and also contains 
topic-led appendices which provide information on:

 Child Sexual Exploitation
 Cultural Abuse
 Domestic Abuse
 Mobile Families
 Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
 PREVENT and Channel

67



The policy further contains an appendix which relates to training requirements necessary to 
meet the national competencies set out for child and adult safeguarding.

The policy is supported by three sets of procedures:

 Safeguarding Children Procedures 
 Safeguarding Adults Procedures 
 Domestic Abuse Procedures 

The purpose of creating procedure documents separate to the policy is to assist colleagues 
in locating information easily should they have cause for concern about a child or vulnerable 
adult and also to make the process of updating individual parts of the document more 
efficient. The policy was last updated in 2019 to update the appendices relating to Domestic 
Abuse and training and to change references to the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children 
Board to the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership.

Training and Development - Officers

The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards (Children and Adults) require that partners follow a 5 
year training pathway which contains training specific to levels of interaction with children, 
young people and vulnerable adults.  The training is provided to partners free of charge and is a 
mix of e-learning and face-to-face modules.

Officers from across the Authority have completed 83 e-learning or face-to-face training 
modules during 2018/19.  Topics covered were:

Awareness of Child Abuse 
and Neglect

Awareness of Domestic 
Violence and Abuse

Children and Young People 
who go Missing

Cultural Abuse3 Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards

Disguised Compliance and 
Disengagement with Families

Hate Crime Hidden Harm4 Integrated Working
Mental Capacity Act Pre-birth Protocol Safeguarding Adults
Safeguarding Children from 
Abuse by Sexual Exploitation

Safeguarding Everyone – 
Protection Children, Young 
People and Adults at Risk

Section 42 Enquiries – 
Safeguarding Adults

Self harm and suicidal 
thoughts in children and 
young people

Trafficking, Exploitation and 
Modern Slavery

Understanding and working 
with non-engaging adults

Understanding pathways to 
extremism and the Prevent 
programme

Working with adults who self-
neglect

The level of direct involvement staff have with children, young people or vulnerable adults also 
determines how often training needs to be undertaken.  Community focused staff are required to 
undertake some form of safeguarding training on an annual basis whilst those without direct 
involvement need only complete training appropriate to the service area and level of 
responsibility within that area once within a five-year cycle unless changes to legislation, 
statutory guidance or procedures require that an update/refresher be completed.

3 Cultural Abuse training covers the subjects of: female genital mutilation, forced marriage, spirit possession and 
honour-based violence
4 Hidden Harm training looks at the impact of parental drug and alcohol misuse on children and young people

68



A record of the training completed by officers and elected Members is held centrally and 
reminder e mails are sent to individuals when new training is required or refreshers need to be 
completed.

Elected Member Training

Induction and refresher training for elected Members was developed and delivered in 2019. A 
total of 33 elected members attended the training. A further opportunity will be made available 
for those members who were not able to attend the induction session and e-learning 
opportunities remain available to them throughout their term of office.

Taxi Drivers

In June 2017 the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy was amended to include 
compulsory e-learning safeguarding training for all hackney carriage and private hire drivers and 
operators. Drivers and operators are required to complete and pass two modules of 
safeguarding awareness training:

 An Introduction to Safeguarding Everyone in Lincolnshire
 Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Training for Taxi Drivers

This training is free and all new and renewing applicants must provide certificates of completion 
in order to obtain or renew a licence to operate/drive. This compulsory training requirement was 
introduced at the request of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board in response to the 
high-profile child sexual exploitation cases in areas such as Rotherham and Rochdale.

It is reassuring to note that since the introduction of this requirement under our Licensing Policy, 
921 training modules have been completed and passed by drivers/operators in South Kesteven.

Referrals

Whilst there are requirements on us as a district council to have identified strategic and 
operational leads for safeguarding it should be acknowledged that there are no safeguarding-
specific roles within the Authority.  This does not undermine the importance of the safeguarding 
of individuals from harm and neglect but seeks to highlight the fact that safeguarding is 
everyone’s responsibility.  Officers from across the Authority have the knowledge, skill and 
training to identify the potential for harm and to refer individuals to the appropriate support 
service when a concern is identified. Support for officers and elected Members is available 
through our safeguarding leads: Harry Rai (Assistant Director, Housing) and Carol Drury 
(Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer).

Any officer in the course of their duties, or an elected member carrying out their representational 
role, may witness or be informed of an issue that they feel should be referred to Social Care. 
Referrals are made on behalf of the Authority by a Safeguarding Lead Officer with the exception 
of those made by colleagues in Housing and Neighbourhoods who refer directly to Social Care. 
All instances are also reported to the Deputy Safeguarding Officer (Carol Drury) and a central 
record is held to assist in identifying trends and ‘hot spot’ locations.

69



During 2018-19 this authority made 11 safeguarding referrals. These referrals related to 5 
adults, 7 children/young people and 1 unborn child.  Concerns were raised relating to the issues 
listed below by officers from community-facing services. Incidents relating to adults have been 
raised by officers from Housing and Neighbourhoods teams and include:

The referral citing neglect (listed at the end of the table above) relates to two children in a family 
that was the subject of Team Around the Child (TAC) which is early help where families are 
found to be in need of additional support.  This TAC was escalated to Child in Need (protection) 
following a home visit from a neighbourhoods officer due to the unsafe conditions the children 
were living in at home.   

It is important to acknowledge that not all referrals to Social Care meet their required threshold. 
In such cases alternative means of support need to be put in place locally. This support can be 
way of a multi-agency approach (health, education, wellbeing, housing for example).  The 
support provided would be based on need.  If the case relates to a specific issue the most 
appropriate single agency would provide support.

Internal Safeguarding Group

The independent report, which followed an Adult Safeguarding Review relating to the historical 
financial exploitation of a number of vulnerable individuals, made a series of recommendations 
including the need for agencies to identify trends.  This would encompass locality trends, 
perpetrator and victim trends and trends in types of abuse suffered.

As a response to this recommendation, the Council introduced an internal safeguarding group 
comprised of officers from Housing, Homelessness, Neighbourhoods, Benefits and Rents to 
review cases and customer interactions.  This group meets with the Deputy Safeguarding 
Officer on a monthly basis and discusses early help, referrals, alternative interventions when 
safeguarding thresholds are not met, action taken and outcomes.  This group also determines if 
a case, deemed not to meet a safeguarding threshold by Social Services, requires intervention 
and escalation by the Lead Safeguarding Officer.

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board

The Children Act 2004 requires each Local Authority to establish a Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB) for their area. In a two-tier authority area this responsibility falls to the County Council.  
Section 13 of the Act also specifies the required partners of the LSCB. These include:

 District Councils (in local authority areas which have them)
 The chief officer of Police
 The National Probation Service and Community Rehabilitation Companies
 The Youth Offending Team

Allegations of historical sexual abuse Referral to Children’s Social Care
Allegations of Domestic Abuse Referral to Children’s Social Care
Homelessness Referral to Children’s Social Care
Mental Health/Neglect Referral to Adult Social Care 
Threat of suicide Police and health professionals involved
Self neglect/hoarding Referral to Adult Social Care 
Impact of substance misuse on unborn child Referral to Children’s Social Care
Neglect Referral to Children’s Social Care

70



 NHS England and the Clinical Commissioning Groups
 NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts (all or most of whose hospitals, establishments 

and facilities are situated in the local authority area)
 Cafcass (Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service)
 The governor or director of any secure training centre in the area of the authority
 The governor or director of any prison in the area of the authority which ordinarily 

detains children
 Two lay members

The over-arching objectives of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board are to coordinate 
what is done by each person or body represented on the Board for the purposes of 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area of the authority and to ensure the 
effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for that purpose, as set out in 
Section 14 of the Children Act 2004. District Authorities have one seat on the Board and on 
each of its sub-groups therefore representation at Board meetings is shared across the seven 
districts.  SKDC’s Deputy Safeguarding is the district representative at the Policy, Performance, 
Education and Training sub-group for which she became Chair in 2018.

Recommendations from the Government commissioned Wood Report 2016 into the role and 
functions of Local Safeguarding Children Boards to replace the existing statutory arrangements 
for LSCBs and introduce a new statutory framework for multi-agency arrangements for child 
protection where embedded through statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2018. As a result of these recommendations the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children 
Board became the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership in June 2019.

Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board

Safeguarding Adults Boards became statutory with the introduction of the Care Act 2014. The 
aim of Lincolnshire’s Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) is to ensure the effective co-ordination 
of services to safeguard and promote the welfare of adults, in accordance with the Care Act 
2014, Making Safeguarding Personal and Care and Support statutory guidance 2014.

Core membership of an Adult Safeguarding Board includes:

 Local Authority 
 Clinical Commissioning Groups
 The Police

As the responsible authority in this county, Lincolnshire County Council is the local authority in 
this list.  Membership can be extended to include other ‘useful partners’ and the Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Adults Board includes amongst its members the seven district authorities. This 
Council is a member of the LSAB primarily, but not exclusively, because of its housing function. 
Partners are required to work together, alongside individuals and communities, to safeguard 
adults in ways that support them to make informed choices and enable them to have control in 
how they will live their lives. As with the Children’s Board, District Authorities have one seat on 
the Board and on each of its sub-groups therefore representation at Board meetings is shared 
across the seven districts.  Input to and feedback the representatives on this and the Children’s 
Board is coordinated through a District Safeguarding Leads Group which meets every two 
months.

71



Lincolnshire Assurance and Assessment Framework (LAAF)

The Care Act 2014 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to ensure their 
functions and any services they contract to others are discharged having regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of vulnerable adults. As a district authority these duties 
relate to the delivery of services such as: housing, sport, culture and leisure services and also to 
our responsibilities as a licensing authority.

The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board requires its partners to carry out assessments of 
partner compliance with their duties on a three-yearly cycle; the most recent of which took place 
in 2019.  

The process is actioned through self-assessment – whereby each organisation completes an 
online assessment tool under seven headings, which is further broken down into 37 questions.  
Each organisation is required to provide an explanation of the services or arrangements in place 
under each of the 37 questions that are applicable to their organisation and related 
responsibilities and to provide evidence to prove they fulfill each requirement. Most of this 
evidence is uploaded onto the online toolkit and some (case file evidence) is viewed on site by 
the moderator.  A self-assessed grading is given for each question of red, amber, green or blue 
as follows:

 Red - Not effective
 Amber – Working Towards
 Green – Effective
 Blue – Excelling 

Evidence uploaded as part of this authority’s submission focused on our safeguarding policy 
and procedures, recruitment practices and the services we provide to families such as housing, 
homelessness, community safety and leisure and cultural services.  We rated our effectiveness 
as green throughout the toolkit.  A response from the Adults Board is awaited.

Going Forward

Safeguarding requires the commitment of the Council as a whole if we are to help to protect 
children, young people and vulnerable adults from harm.  We must ensure that elected 
members and staff from all our service areas, particularly the community-focused services, are 
trained, are able to recognise signs of safety and, most importantly, act upon those concerns. 

A training package has been developed relating to early help processes and the requirements 
and procedures for referring vulnerable individuals which will be rolled out to community-facing 
staff during 2019-20.  This training will focus on recognising the need for intervention at the 
earliest stage through to the need to protect individuals from significant harm.  The training will 
also include information relating to capacity (children and adults), consent and when, in the best 
interests of an individual, a referral can be made without the consent of the person at risk of 
harm.

Any recommendations resulting from the Authority’s LAAF submission to the Lincolnshire 
Safeguarding Adults Board will be implemented accordingly.

72


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2019
	6 External Audit- Value for Money opinion
	7 Internal Audit progress report
	Appendix A Progress Report Sept 2019 SKDC

	8 Safeguarding Annual Report
	Annual Report 2018-19




